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W EUGENE DAVIS, Circuit Judge:

W | bert Sharun Jones appeals his conviction for possession
wth intent to distribute 50 grans or nore of cocai ne base, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1). Jones challenges the deni al
of his notion to suppress evidence found in a search of his
apartnent and clains that the district court erred in allow ng
himto proceed pro se without providing the required
adnoni shnents, violating his right to counsel under the Sixth
Amendnent. Based on the district court’s failure to sufficiently
i nsure that Jones’ waiver of his right to counsel was know ng and

intelligent, we vacate his conviction. Because we remand and the



nmotion to suppress is likely to remain at issue in a second
trial, we al so exam ne Jones’ argunent regarding the search
concl udi ng that no Fourth Amendnent violation occurred.

l.

Jones and Jam t hon Javonne Broussard were indicated for
possession with intent to distribute 50 grans or nore of cocaine
base. Jones noved to suppress all evidence seized in connection
with the charge.

At the suppression hearing, Karen Roblin, general manager of
the Lancaster Cornwall Apartnents, testified that she and a pest
exterm nator entered apartnent 234-C and that she saw a spoon
wth a white powder residue that she believed was sone type of
illegal drug. Jones is the |essee of that apartnent. After the
exterm nator conpleted his work, Roblin exited the apartnent and
directed the assistant manager, Carolyn Petoskey, and the
groundskeeper, David Cortez, to verify her suspicions. They did
so. Petoskey prepared an eviction notice because it was a
violation of the |ease to engage in illegal activity. Wen she
went to post the notice in the apartnent, she asked C ay
Wodward, a police officer who was a resident and served as a
security officer for the conplex, to acconpany her to confirm her
suspi cions regarding the drugs and as a safety precaution. They
entered the apartnent together and saw cooki es of cocai ne base
and tools of the cocaine trade in plain sight in the kitchen.

Pet osky was asked not to post the eviction notice until a search
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warrant coul d be obtai ned and executed. Wodward called a
narcotics investigator, Erik Kvarme, informed himof what he had
seen and requested that he get a search warrant for the
apartnent.

Two police officers arrived at the conplex a short tine
| ater and established surveillance on the apartnent. Jones and
Broussard arrived at the conplex in a tan Cadillac and entered
the apartnment. After a short tine, they exited the apartnent,
proceeded to the Cadillac and attenpted to | eave the conplex. As
the police officers approached the vehicle, it sped away and a
hi gh speed chase ensued. As the Cadillac drove away, Jones was
seen throwi ng an object fromthe vehicle, which was recovered by
police and determ ned to be a crack cocai ne cookie. The Cadillac
crashed. Broussard exited the vehicle and threw a bag of crack
cocai ne under it. The bag was |ater recovered. Jones was
arrested as he exited the Cadillac. After the arrest, a
detective executed a search warrant on the apartnent and
recovered nine cookies of crack cocaine. The district court
deni ed Jones’ notion to suppress.

Jones proceeded to trial. On the day before trial, Jones
told the district court that he would rather represent hinself
than proceed with appointed counsel. The district court all owed
Jones to represent hinmself and pl aced appoi nted counsel on
standby. Jones was found guilty by the jury and sentenced to 168

months in prison. Jones appeals, wth representation.
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.

Jones, who is represented by counsel on appeal, chall enges
the district court’s denial of his notion to suppress and the
adm ssion of the evidence found during the search of his
apartnent. In reviewng the denial of a notion to suppress, we
review factual findings for clear error and |egal conclusions de

novo. United States v. Hunt, 253 F.3d 227, 229-20 (5th G

2001). Jones concedes that the district court was correct in
finding that the initial entries into the apartnent and the

di scovery of drugs by Roblin and Petoskey were not under the
color of law but by private citizens. As such no Fourth
Amendnent issues are raised with regard to their entry into the

apartnent. United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U. S. 109, 113-14

(1984) .

Jones argues that O ficer Wodward’s entry into the
apartnent without a warrant constituted a violation of his Fourth
Amendnent rights. This court has held that "a police view
subsequent to a search conducted by private citizens does not
constitute a 'search’ within the neaning of the Fourth Amendnent
so long as the viewis confined to the scope and product of the

initial search.” United States v. Runyan, 275 F.3d 449, 458 (5th

Cr. 2001). There is no indication in the record of the

suppression hearing that Oficer Wodward perfornmed any search



beyond t he scope of the prior private searches.! No Fourth

Amendnent viol ati on occurred under these circunstances and the

evi dence obtained in the search was properly admtted at trial.
L1,

Jones al so argues that he did not know ngly and
intelligently waive his right to counsel at trial.? The day
before trial was to commence, Jones’ appointed counsel, Barl ow,
informed the court that the defendant may want to represent
hi msel f. The court asked Jones if he did. Jones responded that
he woul d rather represent hinself than have Barl ow represent him
The court told Jones that he would not appoint a different
attorney for him The court then appointed Barl ow as standby
counsel . Wen Jones asked the court how to get subpoenas and
W t nesses, the court told himthat he did not practice |aw and
that Barl ow was an “extrenely conpetent A-rated |awer.” Wen
Jones asked about discovery, Barlow offered to neet wth Jones to
go over the record. The court clarified with Jones and his
nmot her that Barlow s fee would be paid by the governnent. The
gover nnent asked the court for a hearing on Jones’ waiver of his

right to an attorney. At that point the court asked Jones to

1 The district court appears to have denied the nmotion to
suppress on the basis that the entry by Wodward was not under
color of law, but in the conpany of a private citizen who had the
right to enter. The district court specifically found that the
drugs were in plain view

2 Jones was represented by retained or appoi nted counsel for
the notion to suppress and up to the point the trial began.
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confirmthat he understood that Barlow would serve w thout cost
and that he was certified specialist in crimnal |aw, which Jones
did. No formal hearing was held then or later. Jones again
expressed concern that Barlow was not sufficiently famliar with
his case. Barlow confirnmed that he was prepared for trial.

Jones indicated to the court that because of the mnimal tine
that Barlow had net with him he would represent hinself because
he best knew the facts of his own situation.

The next norning, the court asked Jones if he fully realized
that representing hinself was dangerous to him Jones responded
yes. The court asked Jones if he had di scussed representing
hinmself with M. Barlow. \Wen Jones responded that he hadn’t,
the court gave Jones an opportunity to confer with Barl ow. The
court, while acknow edgi ng Jones’ right to represent hinself,
strongly recommended to Jones that he have an attorney. The
judge reiterated his view of Barlow s qualifications and his
recomendation that he have an attorney. The court again told
Jones that it was absolutely voluntary on Jones’ part whether or
not to have an attorney, that he was not trying to force him but
that he recommended it highly. After the conference with Barl ow,
Jones again stated his decision to represent hinself. The court
agai n appoi nted Barl ow as standby counsel.

Jones argues that the district court failed to give him
adequat e warni ngs about the dangers and di sadvant ages of self-

representation, as required by Faretta v. California, 422 U S.
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806 (1975). A defendant in a crimnal trial has a Sixth
Amendnent right to represent hinself, but only when he know ngly

and intelligently chooses to do so. United States v. Joseph, 333

F.3d 587, 589-90 (5th Cr. 2003)(citing Faretta, 422 U. S. at 833-
35). Such constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo.
Joseph, Id. at 589. “A defendant who wi shes to waive the right
to counsel should be made aware of the dangers and di sadvant ages
of self-representation, so that the record will establish that he
knows what he is doing and his choice is made with his eyes
open.” |d. at 590 (citations and internal quotation marks
omtted).

I n determ ni ng whet her a def endant has effectively

wai ved the right to counsel, the district court nust

consi der various factors, including the defendant’s

age, education, background, experience, and conduct.

The court nust ensure that the waiver is not the result

of coercion or mstreatnent, and nust be satisfied that

t he accused understands the nature of the charges, the

consequences of the proceedings, and the practicality

of waiving the right to counsel
ld. (citations omtted).

The Benchbook for U S. District Court Judges, published by
the Federal Judicial Center, provides a guide for questions the
judge can ask to convey the disadvantages the defendant w ||

likely suffer if he proceeds pro se which is reproduced in the

margin.® W do not suggest that a district court nust follow a

3 The recommended inquiry reads as foll ows:

(1) Have you ever studied |law? (2) Have you ever
represented yourself in a crimnal action? (3) Do you
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understand that you are charged with these crines:
[state the crinmes with which the defendant is charged]?
(4) Do you understand that if you are found guilty of
the crime charged in Count | the court nust inpose an
assessnent of $ 50 and could sentence you to as nany as
__years in prison and fine you as nuch as $ ? [Ask
defendant a sim |l ar question for each crine with which
he or she may be charged in the indictnment or
information.] (5) Do you understand that if you are
found guilty of nore than one of those crinmes this
court can order that the sentences be served
consecutively, that is, one after another? (6) Do you
understand that the U S. Sentencing Comm ssion has

i ssued sentencing guidelines that will affect your
sentence if you are found quilty?

(7) Do you understand that if you represent yourself,
you are on your own? | cannot tell you or even advise
you how you should try your case. (8) Are you famliar
with the Federal Rules of Evidence? (9) Do you
understand that the Federal Rules of Evidence govern
what evidence may or may not be introduced at trial and
that, in representing yourself, you nust abide by those
rules? (10) Are you famliar with the Federal Rules of
Crim nal Procedure? (11) Do you understand that those
rules govern the way a crimnal action is tried in
federal court? [Then say to defendant sonething to this
effect:] (12) | must advise you that in my opinion a
trained | awyer woul d defend you far better than you
coul d defend yourself. | think it is unw se of you to
try to represent yourself. You are not famliar with
the law. You are not famliar with court procedure. You
are not famliar with the rules of evidence. | strongly
urge you not to try to represent yourself. (13) Now, in
light of the penalty that you m ght suffer if you are
found guilty, and in light of all of the difficulties
of representing yourself, do you still desire to
represent yourself and to give up your right to be
represented by a lawer? (14) |Is your decision entirely
voluntary? [If the answers to the two preceding
gquestions are yes, say sonething to the foll ow ng
effect:] (15) | find that the defendant has know ngly
and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. |
therefore permt the defendant to represent hinself

[ hersel f].

United States v. Davis, 269 F.3d 514, 519 (5th G r. 2001), citing
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script. This court “require[s] no sacrosanct |itany for warning

def endant s agai nst waiving the right to counsel,” United States

v. Davis, 269 F.3d 514, 519 (5th Gr. 2001), and has approved
war ni ngs nmuch | ess thorough than the guidelines presented in the

bench book.

For exanple, in United States v. Joseph, Joseph, |ike Jones,
expressed a desire to proceed pro se due to |lack of confidence in
his counsel. 1d. at 590. Also simlar to this case, the court
recommended several tines that Joseph all ow counsel to represent
hi m because they were very good | awers. Unlike the facts of
this case, the court in Joseph explained the disadvant ages of
self-representation and specifically recomended that Joseph
al l ow counsel to question w tnesses, conduct cross-exam nation
and put on any evidence on his behalf. |Id.

This court has also affirmed a defendant’s waiver of his
right to representati on under warni ngs | ess than the guidelines
above but which contained practical counsel about the

di sadvant ages and dangers of self-representation. United States

v. Fulton, 131. Fed. Appx. 441 (unpublished), (5th Gr. 2005).
In Fulton, the court warned the defendant that his case was
“conpl ex”, involved “conplex issues” and it was in his best
interest to proceed with appointed counsel. 1d. at 442. The

court also warned that the defendant faced a “daunting task” if

Benchbook 1.02 (4th ed. 2000).



he chose to proceed on his own because he was facing a “very
capabl e prosecutor.” 1d. at 443.

The risk of an off the cuff exchange with the defendant is
that the exchange may end up | acking a sufficient basis on which
we can find that the defendant made a know ng and intelligent

wai ver of this inportant right. In United States v. Davis, we

vacated Davis’ conviction based on our conclusion that district
court’s warnings against self-representation did not satisfy the
requi renents of Faretta. 269 F.3d 514, 520 (5th Cr. 2001).
Davis was dissatisfied wwth his attorney because the attorney
refused to ask witnesses the questions Davis had prepared. The
district court confirnmed that Davis wanted to proceed to ask the
questions in spite of his attorney’s advice that asking the
gquestions and personally participating in the trial was not in
his best interest. The district court also pointed out that by
asking the questions Davis mght inplicate hinself and place him
in an awkward position with the jury and with his attorney. W
concluded that the court’s exchange wth the defendant did not
di scharge the district court’s responsibility to warn Davis of
the “perils and di sadvantages of self-representation.” |d. The
court’s reliance on warnings given by Davis’ counsel were not
sufficient, because Davis no |onger trusted him

In this case, the district court did not counsel Jones about
t he dangers of self-representation or expressly consider any of
the Joseph factors. Although the district court reconmended to
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Jones that he have an attorney and stated that his appointed
counsel was highly qualified, the district court took no steps,
except in the nost general way, to insure that Jones was “aware
of the dangers and di sadvant ages of self-representation.”

Joseph, 333 F. 3d at 590. |In addition, the court made no inquiry
into Jones’ education or background to evaluate his fitness for
the task. Neither did the court determne if Jones understood
the nature of the charges against him the consequences of the
proceedi ngs or the practical effects of waiving his right to
counsel . 1d.

Jones’ inquiry regarding the nethod for obtaining subpoenas
and witnesses and the district court’s response that he woul d not
help himare insufficient to satisfy the district court’s
obligation to warn the defendant of the practical consequences of
self-representation. Neither was granting Jones the opportunity
to confer with counsel whose perfornmance Jones consi dered
unsatisfactory. W reiterate this court’s position that “no
sacrosanct litany” of warnings is required. Davis, 269 F.3d at
519. However, when a defendant expresses a desire to represent
himsel f, the district court nust do nore to protect the
defendant’s Si xth Anmendnent right to counsel than repeat its
recommendation that a defendant proceed with his avail abl e
qual i fi ed appoi nted counsel .

| V.
For the foregoing reasons, we vacate Jones’ conviction and
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remand this case to the district court for a newtrial. VACATED

and REMANDED.
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